THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001237

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Genesie Fulton, individually and as Next
Friend for Bryson F., a minor

Appellants,

v

v.

L. William Goldstein, M.D., individually
and d/b/a L. William Goldstein OB-GYN,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Edward L. Graham
Diane M. Rodriguez
J. Layton Ruffin
GRAHAM LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 550
Florence, SC 29503
t. (843) 662-3281
f. (800) 859-7028

Attorneys for Appellants

April 29, 2016

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE OBSTETRIC EMERGENCY STATUTE WAS INAPPLICABLE TO THIS CASE?**
- II. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO CHARGE THE JURY ON THE CORRECT AND COMPLETE DEFINITION OF GROSS NEGLIGENCE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical negligence case involving an injury sustained by minor Bryson F. at the time of his birth on August 20, 2009. Genesis Fulton brought this action in her individual capacity and as Next Friend of Bryson F., a Minor. Appellants allege that Dr. William L. Goldstein, and William Goldstein OB-GYN (hereinafter "Respondents") failed to properly manage and resolve a condition known as shoulder dystocia. Shoulder dystocia is a condition that sometimes arises in a head-first vaginal delivery where the infant's shoulder becomes lodged behind the mother's pubic bone. Instead of using only gentle traction (force or pulling) and properly performing one of the appropriate maneuvers available to safely relieve the stuck shoulder, Dr. Goldstein instead improperly used excessive force upon baby Bryson's head sufficient to cause the nerves in Bryson's neck to be stretched and torn apart. As a result, Bryson has permanent brachial plexus nerve damage and lifelong deformity and deficiency in movement in his right arm.

The Summons and Complaint were filed on February 28, 2013 and designated as Civil Action Number 2013-CP-21-00587. (R. pp. 11-21). On April 26, 2013, Defendants Dr. Goldstein and William Goldstein OB-GYN answered with general denials and assertions of numerous affirmative defenses, including the emergency obstetrical care statute found at S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230. (R. pp. 29-36). Two other defendants originally named in the suit were dismissed by stipulation on September 29, 2014, and the consent order granting dismissal was entered on September 30, 2014. (R. p. 1-6). Neither of these defendants were parties at the time of trial, nor

are they parties to this appeal. An Amended Complaint was filed on April 30, 2015. (R. pp. 37-42).

The case went to trial against Respondents in the Florence County Court of Common Pleas beginning on May 4, 2015, with the Honorable Michael G. Nettles serving as presiding trial judge. Trial started on a Monday and concluded that Friday, May 8, 2015. Despite alleging the obstetric emergency affirmative defense in their Answer, Respondents put forth no evidence at trial on several of the elements required for a defendant to avail itself of the statutorily created defense. For this reason, after the defense rested, Appellants requested the court find as a matter of law that the obstetric emergency affirmative defense did not apply to this case and must not be included in the jury charge or on the verdict form. (R. p. 838, line 8-p. 839, line 1; p. 839, line 20-p. 842, line 23). Ultimately, the Court determined it was a question of fact to go to the jury. (R. p. 845, lines 12-15). After understanding that the judge intended to include the obstetric emergency affirmative defense in the jury charge and on the verdict form, Appellants next inquired of the judge how he intended to define “gross negligence” for the jury. (R. p. 902, lines 1-3). After learning that the trial court intended to charge that “gross negligence is the failure to exercise even the slightest care,” Appellants requested the trial court to charge the correct and complete definition of gross negligence that was necessary for the jury to correctly understand the concept of gross negligence under South Carolina law. (R. p. 902, lines 4-12). The trial court denied the request and stated that “there’s just going to be a short definition on what gross negligence is.” (R. p. 902, lines 13-16). Indeed, the jury was charged only that “[g]ross negligence is the failure to exercise even the slightest care” (R. p. 921, lines 14-15).

Deliberations began around 6:00 PM, and just after 10:00 PM that Friday, the jury reached a verdict in favor of the Defendant. (R. p. 937, line 11; p. 941, line 15-p. 942, line 13). Ultimately,

the jury found that the obstetric emergency exception applied, thereby requiring gross negligence. The jury then found that the Plaintiff did not prove that the Defendants were grossly negligent. (R. p. 942, lines 6-10).

Appellants moved for a new trial absolute, and the judge agreed to hear the motions on a future date. (R. p. 946, line 11-p. 947, line 11). Appellants then filed a motion for new trial absolute on May 15, 2015, (R. pp. 51-67). The trial judge heard oral argument on May 19, 2015. The Court entered its order denying the motion for new trial on the same date. (R. pp. 5-8). Appellants then timely filed their notice of appeal with the trial court and court of appeals on June 8, 2015. The amount involved in this appeal is in excess of One Million Dollars.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Genesie Fulton was working with the South Carolina Department of Corrections as a correctional officer when she learned that she and her husband were going to be having a baby. (R. p. 245, lines 1-5; p. 246, lines 11-17; p. 249, lines 3-11). Because Genesie was a diabetic, she checked and monitored her blood sugars throughout her pregnancy, but she never had any prenatal complication related to her diabetes. (R. p. 253, line 19-p. 255, line 5). Throughout her pregnancy, Genesie was a very complaint patient. (R. p. 348, line 21). She was placed on bedrest sometime around June 15 because of contractions. (R. p. 347, line 25-p. 348, line 7). On August 18, 2009, Genesie went to the hospital with pains and was told she was contracting. However, the contractions stopped, and she was dismissed. (R. p. 259, lines 14-18). She visited Dr. Goldstein the next day, who then scheduled an induction¹ the following day, on August 20. (R. p. 259, lines 20-24). Dr. Goldstein explained at trial that he scheduled her induction because of her distance from the hospital to be sure she didn't have an issue going into labor and not being able to get to

¹ Induction of labor is the bringing about contractions before the mother goes into her own labor through the use of drugs like Pitocin, to cause the muscles to contract and to "ripen" the cervix. (R. p. 103; line 5-p. 104, line 1).

the hospital in time. (R. p. 358, lines 3-10). His decision to induce the next day was not due to any perceived emergent circumstances.

Genesie went to the hospital to be induced. (R. p. 261, lines 4-6). There were never any concerns about the child or mother's well-being at admission. No expert opined that there were any issues at all with Genesie or her child upon admission. In fact, Dr. Goldstein did not assert that there was any issue at all from admission to the time she was ready to start pushing. Briefly Dr. Goldstein reduced the amount of Pitocin he was giving the mother because it was causing her to have contractions a little more frequently than he likes to see and due to some heart rate variability. (R. p. 379, lines 18-22). However, he admitted the changes were only subtle and immediately improved once Pitocin was reduced. (R. p. 379, lines 3-8).

After labor progressed, Dr. Goldstein entered the room and instructed Genesie to begin pushing. (R. p. 266, lines 16-22). The delivery was complicated by shoulder dystocia, a condition which occurs when the infant's head is out but the shoulder is stuck behind the mother's pubic bone. (R. p. 90, line 20-p. 91, line 5). Dr. Goldstein failed to use proper techniques to resolve the shoulder dystocia and asked the nurses to call for someone, anyone else, to come in to the delivery room to help him. (R. p. 268, line 15-p. 269, line 5). Another obstetrician, Dr. Steven Coker, came to the delivery room. In less than a minute, in Dr. Goldstein's words, "he came, he saw, he conquered, and he left." (R. p. 487, lines 12-21). By simply placing a little pressure just above the mother's pubic bone, Dr. Coker freed the stuck shoulder and delivered Bryson in less than a minute. (R. p. 487, line 25-p. 4888, line 2; p. 648, 3-13). Dr. Coker said, "Well, I've done what I came to do" and then left. (R. p. 648, lines 9-10). After delivery, Genesie was informed that

Bryson's right arm had been injured during the delivery and that it was an injury to Bryson's brachial plexus nerves.² (R. p. 272, lines 1-17; p. 272, lines 18-25).

Plaintiffs presented evidence that Dr. Goldstein did not exhibit the requisite knowledge in terms of implementing any number of maneuvers to safely manage shoulder dystocia. (R. p. 118, lines 2-10). Instead of properly employing these maneuvers in connection with gentle traction (pulling), Dr. Goldstein deviated from the standard of care by pulling with sufficient force to cause permanent injury to all the nerves in Bryson's neck. (R. p. 118, lines 11-22; p. 119, line 19-p. 120, line 4; p. 120, lines 14-22). The force applied by Dr. Goldstein onto Bryson's nerves was sufficient to damage each and every one of the brachial plexus nerves innervating his right arm, from C4 to T1 and caused neuroma formation encompassing C4 to C8. (R. p. 189, lines 3-7).³

Bryson required treatment from an orthopedic physician, and he received physical and occupational therapy. (R. p. 277, lines 5-17; p. 278, lines 4-20, p. 279, lines 9-13; p. 280, lines 13-18). Eventually, Bryson was seen at Levine Children's Hospital in Charlotte and was referred to the brachial plexus clinic in Miami, Florida to see Dr. Grossman. (R. p. 281, lines 12-24). Dr. Grossman performed nerve resection surgery on Bryson at Miami Children's Hospital. (R. p. 283, lines 6-16; p. 285, lines 11-19). Because of the injury, Bryson will require future therapy, surgery, and casting. (R. p. 171, line 11-p. 173, line 15). Due to his loss of function in his right arm, Bryson's earning capacity has been reduced. (R. p. 174, line 3-p. 175, line 19).

² The brachial plexus is the network of nerves that come out of the neck and join together and then separate out again. (R. p. 185, lines 22-25). There are six of these nerves, and they are known as C4, C5, C6, C7, C8, and T1. (R. p. 186, lines 11-20). These nerves come down from the neck and go down to the muscles of the arm and allow the arm to work normally. (R. p. 186, lines 3-7).

³ A neuroma occurs when a nerve is torn apart and the two torn ends start looking for each other and grow out in multiple different directions, ultimately forming a ball of wadded nerves. (R. p. 189, lines 16-24).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE OBSTETRIC EMERGENCY STATUTE WAS INAPPLICABLE TO THIS CASE.

A. The Emergency Exception Must Be Interpreted as a Statute in Derogation of the Common Law.

As an initial matter, Appellants note that at common law, there is no “emergency medical and obstetrical care exceptions,” as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230.⁴ The common law states that the plaintiff in a medical malpractice lawsuit must:

(1) Present evidence of the generally recognized practices and procedures which would be exercised by competent practitioners in a defendant doctor's field of medicine under the same or similar circumstances, AND

(2) Present evidence that the defendant doctor departed from the recognized and generally accepted standards, practices and procedures in the manner alleged by the plaintiff.

Cox v. Lund, 286 S.C. 410, 414, 334 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1985).

“[S]tatutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed.” *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 536, 725 S.E.2d 693, 696, 2012 (2012) citing *Epstein v. Coastal Timber Co.*, 393 S.C. 276, 285, 711 S.E.2d 912, 917 (2011). Additionally, “Under this rule, a statute restricting the common law will ‘not be extended beyond the clear intent of the legislature.’” *Id.* citing *Crosby v. Glasscock Trucking Co.*, 340 S.C. 626, 628, 532 S.E.2d 856, 857 (2000). Thus, Section 15-32-230 is to be strictly construed, in the least restrictive manner.

B. As an Affirmative Defense, the Defendant Has the Burden of Proving All Elements of the Obstetric Emergency Exception.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 is an affirmative defense and must be pleaded or is waived. In *Howard v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways*, 343 S.C. 149, 155, 538 S.E.2d 291, 294 (Ct. App.

⁴ The specific requirements of this affirmative defense are discussed *infra*.

2000) our Courts noted, "Affirmative defenses are waived if not pled." In accordance with this requirement, Respondents pled the obstetrical care exception as an affirmative defense.

However, mere pleading of an affirmative defense without supporting evidence is insufficient. It is incumbent upon the defense to present evidence on each and every element of its affirmative defense. South Carolina Courts have noted, "It is well established that a party pleading an affirmative defense has the burden of proving it. *Cole v. S.C. Elec. & Gas, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 183, 195, 584 S.E.2d 405, 412 (Ct. App. 2003), citing *Pike v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 343 S.C. 224, 540 S.E.2d 87 (2000). "When a defendant interposes an affirmative defense, he becomes as to that matter the actor in the suit, and the burden of proof rests upon him to establish his affirmative defense by the preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* citing *Lorick & Lowrance, Inc. v. Julius H. Walker & Co.*, 153 S.C. 309, 318, 150 S.E. 789, 792 (1929). Accordingly, a defendant cannot rest upon a factually unfounded, unsupported affirmative defense, nor should the same be presented to the jury for determination. *See Hoffman v. Greenville*, 242 S.C. 34, 40-41, 129 S.E.2d 757, 760-761 (1963) (holding that the trial judge properly refrained from charging an affirmative defense to the jury where there was no proof of such a defense).

In this case, Respondents asserted the affirmative defense based upon the statutorily created obstetric emergency care exception, but failed to present evidence of its necessary elements. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 (A) and (C) read:

(A) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation involving an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to the patient receiving care in an emergency department or in an obstetrical or surgical suite, no physician⁵ may be held liable unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent.

⁵ In this case, this lawsuit went to trial on claims against a "physician" only. No claims were asserted at trial against any "non-physician" such as a hospital, nurse, corporation (for profit or non-profit), governmental entity, or any other person or entity not otherwise properly defined as a "physician."

(C) The limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply if the patient is not medically stable and:

(1) in immediate threat of death; or

(2) in immediate threat of serious bodily injury.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 (A) and (C).⁶

In order for a physician to avoid liability by asserting this affirmative defense for negligent actions he would otherwise be liable for at common law, the physician must prove all the required elements of the statute. For a medical malpractice claim arising out of obstetrical care,⁷ a defendant physician is required to present evidence that: (1) the claim arises out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation, (2) the patient is not medically stable, and (3) the patient is in immediate threat of either death or serious bodily injury.⁸ If all these requirements have been met, then the physician is not responsible for his own negligent conduct unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent.

C. Respondents Failed to Present Any Evidence that Any Patient was Not Medically Stable at Any Point in Time, from Admission to Discharge.

Respondents wholly failed to present any evidence from anyone that any patient was not medically stable at any point in time from admission to discharge. Respondents failed to present any testimony on this issue for any period of time that Dr. Goldstein had assumed the care of Genesis and her unborn child. The statute unambiguously required this of Dr. Goldstein. Therefore, it was incumbent upon Dr. Goldstein, the party pleading the affirmative defense, to present evidence on this point. As the actor in the suit with regard to the affirmative defense, the

⁶ Section (B) involves a claim where there is “no previous doctor/patient relationship” between the physician and the patient or the patient did not receive prenatal care. This section is not applicable to the facts of this litigation.

⁷ Appellants concede that this case involves a claim for medical malpractice arising out of obstetrical care.

⁸ Additionally, the statute explains this limitation on liability only applies to care rendered prior to the patient’s discharge from the emergency department or the obstetrical or surgical suite.

burden of proof rested upon Dr. Goldstein to establish his affirmative defense. Dr. Goldstein failed to produce any evidence at all that his patient or patients were not medically stable. Because Respondents failed to offer even a modicum of evidence on medical stability, the trial judge should have determined as a matter of law that the obstetric emergency exception did not apply.

Respondents first offered the testimony of the Defendant Dr. Goldstein, both as a fact witness and as an obstetrical expert. He determined, in his expert opinion, that he did not breach the standard of care in terms of pulling too hard.⁹ Using exhibits, Dr. Goldstein explained that during shoulder dystocia, “The baby should be getting oxygen I’ve seen true knots, double true knots in the cord, but, you know, we can’t see the cord so, you know, the baby should be getting adequate oxygen.” (R. p. 362, line 4-p. 363, line 16). Dr. Goldstein also noted that sometimes the umbilical cord is wrapped tightly around the baby’s neck, but that “in this case, we were able to slip it over the head.” (R. p. 409, lines 12-25).

Importantly, defense counsel did not even attempt to get Dr. Goldstein to allege under oath that his patients were not medically stable, either at admission or at any other point during the course of labor and delivery. He did not provide any such testimony regarding Genesisie’s state when she first entered the hospital for induction, nor did he provide any such testimony regarding her state throughout the course of her labor and delivery. Dr. Goldstein failed to provide the same with regard to Bryson. Moreover, he made clear he did not believe there was risk of brain damage that would have justified using excessive traction in this case. (R. p. 489, lines 18-23).

⁹ He made such a determination despite testifying under oath that he didn’t think there was a standard of care for traction, (R. p. 455, lines 6-15), that he didn’t know whether it would be inappropriate to apply more than gentle traction, (R. p. 456, lines 6-13), that an obstetrician simply uses “the traction that’s necessary to get the baby delivered,” (R. p. 471, lines 8-10), despite having no memory of being trained to avoid using more than gentle traction (R. p. 466, line 22-p. 467, line 2), that he had no memory of how much traction he used at any point during Bryson’s delivery (R. p. 473, lines 4-7), that he had no memory of how much he pulled any time he’d encountered shoulder dystocia (R. p. 474, lines 8-12), and despite Dr. Goldstein admitting that he was not qualified to offer any opinion on what caused Bryson’s injuries in this case. (R. p. 476, lines 14-20).

Respondents called as their next obstetrical expert, Dr. Gower. Dr. Gower provided his opinion regarding why, generally, shoulder dystocia is considered an emergency. (R. p. 510, lines 21-p. 511, line 1). In support, he set forth the general risks associated with shoulder dystocia and the injuries which may occur.¹⁰ However, despite going over what is generally known to be the risks of the condition, he made no effort to discuss which were present in this case at the time Bryson was about to be delivered. He made no assertion whatsoever that either mother or baby in this case were not medically stable, from the time of admission and throughout labor and delivery.

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