**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Florence County  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No. 2013-CP-21-00587  
App. No. 2015-001237

---

RECEIVED

MAY 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Genesie Fulton, individually, and as Next Friend of  
Bryson F., a minor,

Appellants,

v.

L. William Goldstein, M.D., individually and d/b/a  
L. William Goldstein OB-GYN,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS L. WILLIAM GOLDSTEIN, M.D., INDIVIDUALLY  
AND D/B/A L. WILLIAM GOLDSTEIN OB-GYN**

---

**Hood Law Firm, LLC**

Robert H. Hood (SC #2599)  
Molly H. Craig (SC #6960)  
Ellore A. Ganes (SC #70509)

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

## ARGUMENT

### *Jury Instructions and Appellate Review*

When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge the jury the current and correct principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389-90, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

"No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection." Rule 51, SCRPC. An issue is not preserved for appellate review where the objection was made at trial on different grounds. *State v. Smith*, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601-02 (1999).

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008) (citing *Clark v. Cantrell*, supra). On appellate review of challenged jury charges, the court construes the trial court’s charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *Keaton ex rel. Foster v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 334 S.C. 488, 497, 514 S.E.2d 570, 575 (1999). Even if some error is found in the trial court’s jury charge, the judgment on the jury’s verdict will not be reversed except upon a showing of prejudice. *Brown v. Stewart*, 348 S.C. 33, 53, 557 S.E.2d 676, 686 (Ct. App. 2001).

**I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CHARGED THE JURY ON THE OBSTETRICAL MEDICAL EMERGENCY EXCEPTION AS PROVIDED IN §15-32-230.**

***Applicable Law – Limitation on Liability for Emergency Obstetrical Care***

The South Carolina Noneconomic Damage Awards Act of 2005, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230, provides:

**Emergency medical and obstetrical care exceptions.**

(A) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation involving an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to the patient receiving care in an emergency department or in an obstetrical or surgical suite, no physician may be held liable unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent.

(B) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of obstetrical care rendered by a physician on an emergency basis when there is no previous doctor/patient relationship between the physician or a member of his practice with a patient or the patient has not received prenatal care, such physician is not liable unless it is proven such physician is grossly negligent.

(C) The limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply if the patient is not medically stable and:

- (1) in immediate threat of death; or
- (2) in immediate threat of serious bodily injury.

Further, the limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply to care rendered prior to the patient's discharge from the emergency department or obstetrical or surgical suite.

The limitation on liability is an affirmative defense and, as such, the defendant physician has the burden of proving that the limitation applied upon proof of which, the plaintiff patient bears the burden of proving gross negligence. *Strange v. S.C. Dept. of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 430, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 (1994) (“The burden of establishing a limitation upon liability or an exception to the waiver of immunity under the Tort Claims Act is upon the governmental entity asserting it as an affirmative defense.”); *Niver v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 302 S.C. 461, 463, 395 S.E.2d 728, 730 (Ct. App. 1990) (limitations on liability under Tort Claims Act are affirmative defenses); *James v. Lister*, 331 S.C. 277, 283, 500 S.E.2d 198, 201 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding that the limitation on liability for charitable organizations, section 33-55-210(A) constitutes an affirmative defense); *Stewart v. Richland Mem'l Hosp.*, 350 S.C. 589, 595, 567 S.E.2d 510, 513 (Ct. App. 2002) (governmental entity's burden to establish that the limitation on liability applied, and plaintiff's burden to establish gross negligence).

**A. The Plaintiff conceded that the presentation of shoulder dystocia constituted “a genuine emergency situation.”**

Every obstetrical expert – both Plaintiffs’ and Defendants’ testified that shoulder dystocia is a medical emergency. [ROA 77, 130; Tr. 160:21, Tr. 213:7-9 – Dr. Gomez-Carrion. ROA 239; Tr. 446:23-24 – Dr. Resnick. ROA 510; Tr.782:17-20 – Dr. Gower. ROA 793; Tr. 1067:20 – Dr. Salley. ROA 853; Tr. 1127:8 - Dr. Hall.] The Patient Mother also testified that it was an emergency situation. [SROA 1; Tr. 145:4-6.] The Patient even expressly conceded that there was “a genuine emergency situation:”

MR. RUFFIN: Well, it's not a matter of being a medical emergency, because we know it's a medical emergency. [ROA 840; Tr. 1114:21-22.]

\*\*\*

THE COURT: A genuine emergency situation. You concede that?

MR. RUFFIN: Yes. Shoulder dystocia is a medical emergency. [ROA 841; Tr. 1115:12-15.]

**B. The Plaintiff conceded that the Infant was “in immediate threat of death” or “in immediate threat of serious bodily injury.”**

The Plaintiff Patient argues on appeal that the Defendant Obstetrician “failed to present any evidence that any patient was in immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury.” [Appellants’ Brief, p. 11-12.] This argument is unfounded and should be rejected for several reasons: first, and foremost, the Patient conceded that there was an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury; second, she did not raise this issue to the trial court; and third, there is ample evidence of the immediate threat of brain damage or death.

During the colloquy concerning the Emergency Obstetrical Care Exception, the Patient stated:

THE COURT: Involving an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury.

MR. RUFFIN: The threat is there. If it had been seven, eight, nine minutes, that would have possibly become a reality. But the section 1, I believe it is, is applicable. We argue the exception to, a little bit further down, I can't quite remember exactly what sub-part it is, but it says A and B can be applied unless, and then it says, the patient is medically stable. [ROA 841; Tr. 1115:16-24.].

When counsel concedes a point in the trial court, the question cannot be raised in the appellate court. *Southern Ry. Co. v. Routh*, 161 S.C. 328, 159 S.E. 640, 642 (1931); *Gatewood v. Moses*, 39 S.C.L. 244, 246 (S.C. App. L. 1852) (a party will not be allowed to raise a ground on appeal that has been expressly waived in the circuit court.) Nor can a party change his arguments on appeal:

Appellant's present argument is not preserved for consideration on appeal. Prior to the charge, appellant objected to instructing the jury on the statute, arguing there was no evidence as to his location at the time of the shooting. He did not claim, as he does now, that there is no requirement the trial judge instruct the jury on the unlawful possession statute or the charge constituted a comment on the facts in violation of the Constitution. Since he did not object at trial on the same grounds as raised on appeal, the issue is not preserved for review.

*State v. Smith*, 522 S.E.2d at 601; *Gatewood v. Moses*, id.

When the Plaintiff made her objection to the Emergency Obstetrical Care Exception statutory charge, she only noted one ground – the absence of evidence that the Infant was not medically stable:

MR. RUFFIN: Your Honor, we take exception to their request for inclusion of the Obstetrical Emergency Statute. It is inapplicable as a matter of law to this case based on one of the exceptions included. They have offered zero testimony that [the Infant] was medically unstable in this case. [ROA 838; Tr. 1112:10-15. See also ROA 841; Tr. 1115.]

The Plaintiff also objected to the Emergency Obstetrical Care Exception on the verdict form on the “not medically stable” ground:

I just want to make sure we are protected with our objection to the obstetrical emergency exception on the verdict form and we just believe that the not medically stable or medically stable is its own basis by which to avoid the obstetric medical emergency exception. [ROA 909; Tr. 1257:5-9]

Similar to *State v. Smith*, the Patient objected to a charge on the Obstetrical Emergency Care Exception arguing that there was no evidence that either patient was not medically stable. She did not claim, as she does now, that there was no evidence of an immediate threat. Since she did not object at trial on that ground, it is not preserved for review.

Third, but not least, the Patient's argument is not supported by the evidence of record. Patient argues that Dr. Goldstein "confirmed" that the Infant was delivered before there was any immediate risk or threat of brain damage. However, the transcript, as she cited, does not support any such "confirmation:"

Q: It was. It was. I plead guilty, sir. Let me try to break it down. We heard you talk about risk of brain damage. All right? You're not claiming there was any imminent risk of brain damage that justified you in using too much traction, are you?

A: No, I'm not implying that I used too much traction – [ROA 489; 754:18-23.]

This was not a concession that there no was immediate risk or threat of brain damage. This was a denial that he used too much traction, and when Dr. Goldstein completed his next answer, he clarified the threat: "-- but from the literature there's been episodes of hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy that occurred within two minutes of the head to shoulder interval." [ROA 489-90; Tr. 754:25-755:2.]

The Patient also cites to specific transcript pages/lines where defense expert, Dr. Gower, supposedly confirmed that the Infant was not in immediate risk or threat of death or brain damage. [Appellants' Brief, p. 12.] However, those transcript excerpts only

show the expert's opinion of whether the medical records show that Dr. Goldstein perceived there was a threat:

Q: In fact, in this case was there ever in your opinion any indication that Dr. Goldstein feared for the baby's life?

A: No, I didn't have any indication of that. [ROA 570; Tr. 842:16-19.]

\*\*\*

Q: But I thought you just told me that you didn't see any indication that Dr. Goldstein had any concerns of those. Is that do you think he should have and didn't?

A: Well, I mean, I would have had to know what he was thinking at the time and so I -- he wouldn't have -- that would have been maybe his thought process, but I don't know how I would know, so I guess my assumption is that we're always thinking about that.

Q: Okay. So, you're just assuming he may have had that. You didn't actually see anything in the ---

A: Correct.

Q: --- medical records or any documentation ---

A: That's exactly right.

Q: --- or deposition. Okay. So, there was nothing that you ever saw that indicated he was in fear of the baby's life or that there was an imminent risk of brain damage?

A: No, I don't have indication of that. [ROA 571-72; Tr. 843:16- 844:7.]

The transcript shows that Dr. Gower actually acknowledged that the risk was a matter of only four to five minutes and that any obstetrician would be thinking about possible brain damage:

Q: Well, and including your review of the records, et cetera, in this case, there was nothing there that occurred during this shoulder dystocia and the way it was managed that raised a concern to you that there was an imminent risk of brain damage.

A: Well, you know, we're talking about four or five minutes to, to get the baby out and we're talking about umbilical cord compression and we know there is a time in that the baby is not getting adequate oxygen and your pH is going down and your oxygen level's going down, your carbon dioxide is going up and so you have that, so yeah, it would be incumbent on any of us in that situation to begin at some point to be thinking about how is this, how's this baby doing as far as the blood flow to the brain. [ROA 571; Tr. 843:1-15.]

Another defense expert, Dr. Mark Salley, also testified about the risk of brain damage:

...the number one risk, again, is oxygen deprivation to the baby where the baby doesn't get enough oxygen and that creates injury to the baby's brain. I don't know if any of the jurors have seen a child with cerebral palsy, but that's one of the consequences of low oxygen, so that's always the most concerning problem when you have a baby that's stuck. [ROA 726; Tr. 1000:16-22.]

During shoulder dystocia delivery, shoulder impaction and prolonged head to body delivery interval can lead to birth asphyxia and subsequent neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy, which is big words for saying brain damage for not enough oxygen. [ROA 747; Tr. 1021:7-11.]

Accordingly to reports, as testified by Dr. Salley, “permanent neurological injury can occur as soon as two minutes after shoulder impaction,” [ROA 747; Tr. 1021:17-18.]

The Patient’s basic argument appears to be that because the Infant was safely delivered within five minutes instead of pushing the limit at the seven-eight minutes critical danger zone there was no “immediate” threat. However, the standard for jury charges is: “If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the request.” *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). As recounted above, there was abundant evidence of an immediate threat to support the Trial Court’s decision to charge the Obstetrical Emergency Care Exception, §15-32-230.

**C. There was evidence that the Infant was “not medically stable”.**

As discussed above, the Patient’s objection – at trial – was the alleged lack of evidence that the Patient was “not medically stable.” As a threshold matter, it is notable that our statute does not define medical stability, and the Patient did not request any jury charge to define the term.<sup>1</sup> Although there was ample testimony about the dire risks and Despite the Infant’s perilous condition at birth, the crux of the Patient’s argument is that

---

<sup>1</sup> Several other states have enacted similar limitations on liability for emergency medical care. See, i.e. Ga. Code Ann. § 51-1-29.5 (West); Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 74.153 (West). However, those other statutes do not contain any comparable provision requiring proof that the patient was “not medically stable.”

Medical stability is a concept found in workers compensation law in some jurisdictions, but it relates to the distinction between temporary v. permanent benefits. 82 Am. Jur. 2d *Workers' Compensation* § 363 (“Once a workers' compensation claimant is medically stable, he or she is no longer in the period of recovery, and the total temporary benefits cease.”) Under this concept the Infant certainly would not be considered medically stable.

Perhaps the most relevant jurisprudence on the concept of medical stability can be found in the federal Anti-Dumping statute, EMTALA, 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd, where medical stability is a key element. The EMTALA requires that hospitals with emergency rooms provide limited stabilizing treatment to or an appropriate transfer of any patient that arrives with an emergency condition. The Act defines “to stabilize” as “to provide such medical treatment of the condition as may be necessary to assure, within reasonable medical probability, that no material deterioration of the condition is likely to result from or occur during the transfer of the individual...” 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd(e)(3)(A). *Bryan v. Rectors & Visitors of Univ. of Virginia*, 95 F.3d 349, 352 (4th Cir. 1996). It has been noted that the statutory definition does not correspond to a medical definition:

EMTALA's definition of “stability” does not share the same meaning as the medical term “stable condition,” which “indicates that a patient's disease process has not changed precipitously or significantly,” Tabor's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary 1861 (Clayton L. Thomas ed., 17th ed.1993); see also Mosby's Medical, Nursing, & Allied Health Dictionary 1474 (Kenneth N. Anderson et al. eds., 4th ed.1994) (defining “stable condition” as “a state of health in which the prognosis indicates little if any immediate change”).

*St. Anthony Hosp. v. U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 309 F.3d 680, 694 (10th Cir. 2002). It should be fair to say that neither the Mother nor the Infant were in any condition for transport during the delivery. There also should not be any dispute that the Infant’s condition during delivery was changing minute to minute.

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